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Conscience against the law:
Mahatma Gandhi, Nelson
Mandela and Bram Fischer as
practising lawyers during the

struggle

Wessel lo Roun, Semor Tectiret Depart
ment of hnispindence University of Sonth
Aftna

Ka mio senquatdweng sc sebotse s go mvaki

sidve Justont ya Gandle Mandela qammoqo
I Frcher Bralo ha boramelao ba go hvela
fokofogo  Banna ba barare ba ka go ba
Agalidanong ga bona le hgethollo va semorafe
e melao va hgethollo va Aftiha Bonva  ba e
ba qapeletsega go Manamela wolao wo ba
thannego go o lompha g0 hvela toka ya
unete Ka dsfieho Bba boua tseo dr bego di na
le dpolotikt ha gare ba e ba fetela dikgore
tsa tsheko go ha mafele a go held toha Ke
nako Balo va gore re Je sede va rerd qo setso se
sengqwe veo se thiinego maenw @ byalo a molao
mo Afrihia Borwa e lego setsa wo s lebetdvego
st molao wa go ba Agahfanong we o
tlisitdhego wa ba wa godiiva he boranmolao
ba hagole ba ge Mela tokologe bralo ka
Gandhr Mandela gannnogo fe Frdiot

1 Introduction

In one of the first Conshitutional Coumt
sadgements, Sachs J remaked that the

seonre and progiessive des elopment of
our legal system demands that it draw
the best Nom aff the streans of fsine in

1

out country He expanded on lhis
comment by lighhghtng some of the
neglected streams of Justice which
should, tw tus mmd, sene as souces
ol values when a democtate South
Ahan pmsprudence 1s developed
Sachs histed frstly * Afnican law and
legal thinking * 2 Also on hus hst ap
peared two tadwions of Justice wiuch
were developed by small sections of the

U v Matsvamanst amd anather §995 (25 SACR 1 {CC) 1995 (6) BCLR 665 (CO) par 364 (my amphasis)
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legal community during apartheid The
fust1s the learming of those Judges who
m the previous era H._._m—._m._wnn_ to ainiculale
a sense of justice that transcended the
limits of race * and the second the
challenging wiitings of legal aca
demics  who bravely broke the taboos
on cnucism of the legal system

Sachs J could equally have made
mentton of the nch naditon of justice
developed by pacusing lawyers hke
Mahatma Gandht Nelson Mandela and
Bram Fisher n then struggle agamnst
racist oppression  The 1mpoitance of
these lawyers and the badition of yustice
they tepresent have iecently been ac
knowledged by the Trih and Reconuiia
fron Compusston The Compnssiont found
that these lawyers weie nfluential
enough to be part of the 1eason why
the ideal of a constitunional democracy
as the favoured torm ol government for
a future South Afnica continued to burn
bughtly throughout the darkness of the
apaitherd era  ° Tlus mmponant point 1s
further underscored by the fact that the
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new Constitutional Comt building wall
soon anse on the 1estored site of the Old
Fort Puison in down Low n Johannesburg
in honowm of Gandht Mandela Fischer
and the many other polincal pnsoners
who weie detained rthere at some pomnt
o1 anoiher ©

The puipose ol this essay 15 to brefly
mnoduce the tradition of justice and the
style of legal practice developed by
Gandli Mandela and Pisher 1o law
students who will soon be legal practt
tioners in their own right * Although the
thhee men m question came from di
verse cultmal backgiounds they aie
umted as lawyeis by an unwaverng
commiment to justice (ather than to
posuive law)y and a belief 1n the value of
pelitical action and participatory dema
cratic n:.-mmﬁm?:u B

2 Practising law in a racist and
oppressive state

Mahatma Gandhi® came 10 South Atrica
m April 1893 as a disillusioned young

Trutis and Reconciration Comtmuisston of South Africa Report Valume 4 (1998 pan 37
According to Sachs J ihe site was sclected because 1t has speaial symbolic signihcance as a mosult of the

many political pusoners who have been incaicorated there ¢ Judge and Juny 1998 cAugusy) Sowr

Afvican Architecr 17 at 29}

7 Itis pot my mteniion to present the style ol lany ening dovdoped by Gandiu Mandela and Eischer as the

only option open o lawyers 1 imes of nsttutionalised iustice 1t 15 |

dunt o aecall the followane

finding by the Truth and Reconciltation Commtsstonr (Truth and Ruconctliation Commsston Report Volume 4
par 38)  Wlle the Conmmission docs beliey e that substantive resistance o the mjustice of aparthexd by

a sigmficant namber of lawyers would have undamined s eflecuvencss and benajed ity rehance on
brute Jorce — even1f only through a prosecutonial authonity ieluctant to act and a diciary uncomforable
with 1ts camphcity i musnee —in the ight of the wealny that 1those who chose 1o resist were relamely
s lew (he Commussion finds that the allevianon of suttenng achicved by JTawy ers w ho chose to parsue
justice. wiilin the bound ol the law) substantially ourmcighed the admitted harm done by then
participaten i 1he sy stem

It terms of the nadimenal jursprodennal debates  they can all bo reparded as wannaf fanars (they
clammed unrversal jusice o lighes consacnce as gudes @ what the law oughi 10 be) and repubhoans
they claimed that actite aitrzen parucipanon and public dehate i smaller lorams formed the essence of
pohitics)

Gandbn s i has been the subject of numerous hogaphies imcluding G Ashe Gandle — A study m
revafirron (1968) R Pryne The Tufe and Death of Mahatma Gandle (1969 L Fischa The Life of Matrarma
Gandhe (1982 and ¥ Chadha Gandlr a I 11997 Gandhi s autobwgiaphy 15 simply called An
Atsobtograply  ar My Exportments with Troth (1927 1990) A swmber of books deal exclusivgdy wath
Gandhi s Iife 1 South Afnca Thesc nctude R Huuenback Gandhi n Senth Africa (1971) M Swan
Gamidhie The Sl Aftrcan Eapetience {1989), E Gandhy Mehawdas Gandli The South Afrecan Years (1994) L5
Reddy Gandlug s vistoir of a free South Africa {1995) and J Brown and M Piozesky {ods} Gandin and South
Afitea {1996)
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lawyer. Hired by an international law
firm to assist in a major case between
two South African business interests, he
hoped to make a fresh start. In India, his
first steps as a legal practutioner were
travmatic. His own inexpericnce was
compourded by growing disappoint.-
ment withh the legal profession. He
tound being a barrister ““a bad jub -
much show and little knowledge ' and
refused, on prineiple, to pay comnmis-
sion 10 people referring cases 10 him ({a
commaon practice of the day). As a
result, the young Gandhi received litile
wark. After six months “'the briefless
barrister of Bombay™, as he dubbed
himsell,!" left for Rajkol from Bombay
and again tried to sct up a legal practice
there. Gandhi was cven more depressed
by the atmesphere and politics ol law in
Rajkot. He discovered the power of
colomial legal officials and learned that
influence, rather than principle, counred
in law. When his way to a successful
legal practice in Rajkot was cffectively
barred because of a guarrel with a local
official, Gandhi decided 10 take up the
offer 1o come to South Africa.

In South Africa, Gandhi encountered
many of the same attitudes amongst
officials and colieagues that had disap-
paointed him in India. At the same time,
he forged the outlines of his own legal
philosophy and approach to the practice
of law. Unlike most of his peers, Gandhj
regarded legal victories as hollow, and
understood the task of a lawyer rather 1o
reconcile the litigating parties and re-
establish a lasting and amicable rela-
ttonship between them, This meant
exploring alternarive dispute resolutions
methods, lke arbavation. Gandhi ex-
plored his approach (o law with a great
measure ol success in the case for which

10 Gangdbn A Awtofregrapity (0 B} at 78
11 fGiandin An Autobigaraphy (0 &) a1 B0
12 Garelhi An Aurabograpliy (0 8) at 109-112
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he was sent to South Africa. T can do no
better than let Gandhi himself explain:'2

The year's stay in Pretorfa was a most
valuable expericuce i my life. Here it
was that [ haid opportunities of leariting
public work and acquired some meastire
of my capacity for i, Here it was that the
refigions spirtt witliin me becane a lving
Jorce, and here too I acgufred a true
knowledge of legal practice. Here [ learnme
the things that a junior barrister learns
i1t a senfor barrister's chamber, and here
I also gained confidence that 1 shouid not
after all fail as a lawver. It was likewise
here that T tearnt the secret of success as a
lawyer,

Dada Abduifa’s way no small case. The
suite was for £40 000. Arising omt of
business transactions, i was full of
intricacies of accourts, There were Au-
merons points of fact and law in this
fitricate ease. Boih parties had engaged
the best attornevs and counsel, | thus had
a fine opportinity of studving thetrwork,
The preparation of the plaintiff's case for
the attorney and the sorting of facts
support of his case frad heen entrusted to
me.

When I was making preparation for
Dada Abdulla’s case, 1 had not fulfy
realised the paranount imporiance of
facts. Facts mean (ruth, and once we
adhere to triith, the law comes to our aid
naturally, I saw that the facts of Dada
Abdulla’s case made it very strong
indeed, and that the law was bound to
be on Jiis side, But | also saw that the
litigation, if it were persisted in, would
ruin the plaintiff and the defendant, who
were relatives and both belonged to the
Samte city. No one knew how fong the case
niight go on. Should it be allowed 10
contistue (o be fought out Bt court, i
might go on indefinitely and to 1w
advantage of either party. Both, there-

fore, desired an fmmediate termination of
the case, if possible.

I approached Tyeb Sheth and requeested
and advised Bim to go to arbitration. |
reconnnended him fo see his counsel. |
sugqgested to hime thar, i an arbitrator
compranding the confidence of both
parties codd be appointed, the casewonld
be quickly finished, The lawvers’ fees were
so rapidly monnting up that they were
enongh 0 devour all the resonrces of the
clients, big werchamts as they were. The
case cccupied so nuch of their attention
that they had no time lefi jor any other
work. In the meantime mutual ilawill
was steadily increasing. T became dis-
gusted with the profession. As lawvers the
connisel ot both sides were bound to rake
up points of taw in support of their own
clients. I alsa saw for the first time that
the winnfing party never recovers alf the
costs incurred. Under the Court Fees
Requlation there was a fixed scale of costs
te be allowed as between party and parly,
the acinal costs as between attorney and
cliernt being very much higher. This was
ntore than [ conld bear. I felt that my
dity was te befriend both parties and
bring them logether. [ strained every
serve to bring about a compromise. Al
last Tyeb Sheth agreed. An arbitrator was
appointed, the case was argued before
him, and Dada Abdnila won,

But that did not satisfy me. If my client
were to seek fimmediate execution of the
award, it would ke impossible for Tyeb
Sheth to meet the whele of the awarded
amount, and there was an imaritten law
among the Porbandar Memans living in
South Africa that death should be
preferved to bankrupiey. [t was impossible
for Tyeb Sheth to pay dows the whole stm
of about £37 000 and costs. He meant to
pay ot a pie less than the amount, and
Ite did ot want to be declared bankript.
There was only one way. Dada Abdulla
showld allow him to pay wm moderate
instatments. He was equal to the occa-
sion, and granted Tyeb Shetl instalments

spread over a very long peried. It was
more difficidt for me to secure thus
concession of payment by nistalments
than te get the parties fo agree 1o
arbitration. But botlt were happy over
the resudt, and both rose in the public
estumation. My jov was bouwpdless, 1 had
fenrnt the true practice of law. T had
Tearnt to find out the better side of human
nature and to emter men's hearts. 1
realised that the true function of a lawyer
was to wntte parties riven asunder. The
lessorn was so indelibly burnt into me that
& large part of my tiwe during the twenty
years of my practice as a lawyer was
oconpied in ringing ahout private cont-
pronsises of hundreds of cases. T lost
nothing therebv — not even money.
certainly nat my soul.

Gandhi's attempts to practice law as
the art of reconciliation stand in sharp
contrast with the wide-spread racism
and discriminatory laws which he, as an
Indian person and lawyer, immediately
encountered during his short stay in
South Africa. On the second day atter
his arrival in South Africa, and on his
first visit to a local court, Gandhi was
ordered by a magistrate to remove the
rurban he was wearing. He refused, and
had to leave court. Travelling from
Durban to Pretoria shortly thereafter, o
attend to the case for which he had come
to South Africa, Gandhi was forcibly
removed from a train in Pietermaritz-
btirg because he was an Indian person.
Later on, he was refused a seal inside a
stage-coach in Charlestown — despite the
fact that he had valigd lirst class rickets.
These incidenis came te a head when,
on the evening of his farewell party on
his way to India, Gandhi happened by
chance to read an anicle in a newspaper
about proposed legislation removing the
right of Indian people 1o vote.

Gandhi inquired about the Bill but
discovered that the rest of the guests
were equally ignorant of the proposed
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legislation. This was a clear indication
of the lack of political consciousness
within the Indian business community.
Very few Indians had up to then
exercised their right to vote.!? The reply
of Gandhi's host 1o his question about
the Bill was (ypical of the prevalent
attitude: ““What can we understand in
these matters? We can only undersiand
things that affect our trade””."* Gandhi
convinced the guests that they should
1ake the matter seriously. That same
evening it was decided that Gandhi
would delay his depanure [or a nonth.
A working commicee was formed under
his leadership to organise a campaign
against the proposed legislation. Even
though Gandhi stood 10 lose a lot in fees
dne 10 1the delay in his return, he refused
to receive any compensation {rom the
local merchanis: “*There can be no fees
for public work. I can stay, if at all, as a
servant”™,'?

During the next month Gandhi ad-
dressed a telegram to the Speaker of the
Assembly, and had the debate on the
Bill postponed. A petition was presented
10 the Legislative Assembly expressing
the Indian community’s objection 10 the
Bill. The Bill was nevertheless passed.
In spite of the apparent failure of the
campaign, it was a turning point for the
Indian community. Many volunteers
were cnrolled 1o assist in the campaign.

Private homes weve converted into pub-
lic offices. Gandhi introduced the value
of a public spirit and political action to
the Indian tmerchants who were other-
wise only interested in furthering their
private affairs:

They were all agreeably surprised to
find themselves taking a share in
public work. To be invited thus to
take part was a new experience in
their lives. In face of the calamity
that had overtaken the comumunity,
all distinctions such as high and low,
small and great, master and servant,
Hindus, Musalmans, Parsis, Chris-
tians, Gujaratis, Madrasis, Sindhis,
etc were {orgotien ... The agitation
had infused new life into the com-
munity and had brought home to
them the conviction that the commu-
nity was one and indivisible, and that
it was as much their duty o fight for
its political rights as for its trading
rights.'®

Having politically mobilised the com-
munity, Gandhi found it impossible to
leave Natal. He decided to settle in
South Africa. While Gandhi still refused
compensation for the public work he
undertook, he accepted offers from
twenty leading merchants to act as their
lawyer, [n this way, Gandhi intended ro

13 Only about 250 of the 46 000 members of 1he 1ndian community had registeved as voters.

14 Gandln Aw Assabiography {n 8) at 115,
15 Gandhi Aw Awsebiography (8 a | L6,

16 Gandhi An Autobiograpity (n 8) at 117-118. Republican political thimkers from as far back as Aristotle
(3B4BC-322R0) have consistenly claimed that a bfe lived In the purswic of private interests only is a de-
prived life. Men, Aristotle (The Politics (1986) at 4} saud, are by nature political beings who can only
really be happy when they concern themselves with the public affaiiy and the common gaad of the

community. Ren

can critics of litwrahism, hike M Arendt The Puman Condition {1958) and R Sennett
The Fall of Prbdic Man (19741, have argued that the |

lic domain has distntegrated in the modern state,

At e saibe tme, polines has become corrupted by a power struggle between private ar secrional
iterests. The same process has been underway in South Afica. Thus A van der Walt ~Un-doing things
with words: colonization of the pubhc sphere by private property discourse’” 1998 Acta Juridica 325 has
shown hiow the atiempl (o Tegenerate a vibrant public law discourse alter apartheid has fallen foul to the

basic tenets of ineteentl cenry private law o

sceurse, Gandhi conld be segarded as a onitie of this

tendercy and one of the champtans of republican democracy in Sotth Africa (bl see G Ashe (0 &) a1
102wl sugests thar inuh and self-reliance. the basic ingrecicnts ot satwriha or passive resistance, are
nol political conceps b rather elentents of a religious creed),

24

combine his legal practice with his
political activities. When Gandhi ap-
plied to be admitied as an advocate in
the Supreme Court of Natal, his applica-
tion was apposed by the Law Society of
Natal,!? The opposition rested not on
anything Gandhi had done, nor on his
abilities as a lawyer. Gandhi was ob-
jected to becausc he was an Indian
person.'® The presiding judge dismissed
the racist objection but summarily or-
dered Gandhi to remove the turban he
was wearing as part of his traditional
dress. Gandhi this time obliged, decid-
ing to focus his energy on the larger
struggle that lay ahead.

Gandhi soon founded the Natal Indian
Congress as a permanent organisation
which could sustain the resistance
against racism. Meetings were held
frequently, and people soon acquired
the habit of thinking and speaking
publicly about marters of public interest.
A tmly democratic political culture of
active participation and public debate
developed in the Indian community
under Gandhi's leadership. This culture
soon developed into what has now
become known as the Saiyagrahia move-
ment of resistance.

In 1906, the Transvaal government

gave notice of a proposed ordinance, in
terms of which all Indians were required
to register and camry a certificate of
registration at all times, on penalty of
mmprisonment or deporation from the
Transvaal. A meeting was held in
Johannesburg 10 discuss the so-called
“Black Act”’. Thousands of Indians
pledged before God to resist the pro-
posed ordinance, whatever the personal
hardships involved. A decision was
taken not to submit to the ordinance if
it became law. Gandhi referred to the
intended action as ‘"passive resistance’’.
The term was later replaced with the
term Satyagraha (the force of truth, love
or nen-violence) and people who volun-
tarily participated in civil disobedience
campaigns became known as Saryagra-
his.'? The ideal of peaceful reconcilia-
tion (which informed Gandhi’'s
approach to law and lawyering) thus
became the key to his whole spiritval
and political philosophy.2°

The ““Black Act” came into operation
in 1907, Very few Indians registered.
Leaders of the community, including
Gandhi, were ordered by the court to
leave the Transvaal. When they failed 1o
do so, they were brought before court 1o
be tried and senrenced. All the accused

17
18

0

It re Gandiri 1894 NLR 263,

This fact is not reflected in the afficial case report 1t is dealt with extensively in Gandhy's autobiography
(n &) at 121123, The ground of objection dealt with jn the case report is Gandhi's failure to submit
proof that he was an admitted banister in England.

Gandh in H Jack {ed) The Gandfts Reader 11956 at 112-113 explains the method of saiyagraia or passive
resistence “as a method of securing rights by personal suftering; it is the 1everse of resistence by arms,
When 1 refuse o do a thing that 18 repugnant to my consoence, T use soul-force. For instance, the
Government of the day has passed a law which is applicable to me. T do not like it Tf by using violence I
force the Government to repeal the law. T am employing what my be termed body-force. I 1 do net obey
the law and accept its penalty for its breach. 1 ase soul-force. It involves sacrifice of self ... When we do
not like centain laws, we do notL break the heads of law-givers but we suller and do not submit 10 the
laws™, For a fuller discussion of the role of Gandhi in develomng the ides of civil disobedience sce
C Heyns A Jurispradential Analvsis of Chail Disobedience it South Africa (1991).

G Ashe (n 8) explains: ““(The Satyagrabu's] vicuny is not the opponents defeat. It is the opponent’s
conversion, To endwe blows long enaughl is to unnerve the arm that strikes them. and swin over the
directing mind  Vigtory does not mean that one side iumphs at the other's expense. but that both sides
are reconciled 1n a new harnony. with the Wrong cancelled.”” The goal of the Samvagraln, as described
here. closely resembles the goal of the good lawyer as described by Gandhi (see above). Gandhi regarded
litigation as an exhibition of fe force which contrasts sharply with the exercise of soul or uuth-force
{saityagraha) (Gandhi “'Indian ome Rute” in H Jack ted) The Gandii Reader (1956) at 111),
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pleaded guilty. Gandhi was sentenced to
two months imprisonment. He later
recalled the moment: 1 had some slight
feeling of awkwardness due Lo 1he fact
that | was standing as an accused in the
very Court where 1 had oftent appeared
as council. Bat T remember that 1
considered the fonner role as far more
henourable than the latter, and did not
feel the slightest hesitation in emering
the prisoner's box™ 2!

Gandhi and the other Safyagrains were
imprisoned during which time Gandhi
spent some time in the Old Tort Prison
in Johannesburg., In the cnd their
aumber totalled more than 150, Less
than three weeks later, on 30 January
1908, General Jan Smms reached a
compromise with Gandhi whereby, il
the Indians would register voluntarily
he would repeal the “Black Ao,
Gandhi and the other prisoners were
released and wide-spread registration
took place. General Smuts did not cany
out his part of the compromise and no
steps were laken to repeal the “'Black
Act’”. Dissatisfaction among the Indian
community grew, and many were ready
Lo restne the struggle and, if necessaty.
#o 10 jail again. A1 a public meeting on
16 August 1908, certificates were col-
lected and burned in an act of defiance,
Thus the Satvagrali movement was re-
launched.

In the period that lollowed many
discriminatory laws were deliberately
b peacefully disobeyed, The familics
of Satvagralis were mainmained at a
settlement omside Johannesburg which

Gandhi named the Tofstoy farm. The
Satvqgrahis continued 10 dely restriclive
laws: they sold fruit without licenses (o
dn so, and many crossed the border from
Natal to the Transvaal without a permit.
A large part of Gandhi’s legal practice
was devoted rowards defending the
Satvagrahis in court, The movement
culminated in a Great March, lead by
Gandhi, from Newcastle in Natal to
Standerton in the Transvaal, The march
began on 6 November 1913, More than
two thousand people sel oul on their
long walk in protest against a special tax
imposed on indentured Indian labourers
and the illegality of Mustim and Hindu
marriages in termms of South African
law.*? puring the march Gandhi was
arrested and released on bail three
times. He was tried after the march
and sentenced to a lengthy period of
imprisonment. The same fate befell
many of the other Satvagrahis, Then, on
18 December 1913, Gandhi and a
number of other leaders were released
from prisen and a commission was
appointed Lo investigale the gricvances
of the Indian commmumity. After negotia-
tions between Gandhi and Simuts, agree-
ment was reached. The Satyagrafia
campaign would stop and an Indian
Relief Aa would be passed, The Act
came inte operation in July 1914 and
brought some relief to the plight of the
Indian community, including the aboli-
tion of the tax on indentured workers.
tlaving achicved this partial victory,
Gandhi resolved to leave South Africa
[orever. He departed on 18 July 1914

and became a leading figure in the
liberation struggle of India. On Friday,
30 Jannary 1948, Gandhi was assassi-
nared in Tndia on his way to the prayer
ground.,

The Satyagraha tradition of civil dis-
obedience founded by Gandhi later
served as one of the inspirations for
the civil disobedience campaigns of the
1950°s and early 1960°s in which
Nelson Mandela and Bram Fischer
plaved important roles

Nelson Mandela®* was bom on 18
July 1918. He had a traditional pastoral
childhood in the Transkei. After at-
tending a Methodist school, he went on
to Fort Hare University to study for a
BA degree. Mandela soon became
embroiled in the politics of the day.
In his third year, he was suspended for
organising a student boycon. He went
to Johannesburg where he joined the
ANC in 1944, and helped to form its
Youth League. In 1951 he completed
his articles. He opened his own law
firm in 1952. Shortly thereafter Oliver
Tambo joined him as partner. Theirs
was the first black law firm in South
Africa:

‘Mandela and Tambo' read the brass
plate on our office door in Chancelior
House, a small building just across the
sireel from the marble statues of justice in
front of the magisivates” court in central
Johanneshurg, Front the beginning Man-
dela and Tambo was besieged with

clients. Africans were desperate for legal
help in government buildings: it was a
crime to walk through a Whites Only
door, a crime 1o ride a Whites Only bus, a
crime fo wse a Whites Only drinking
foumtain, a crime to walk on a Whites
Ounly beach. a crime to be on the sireet
after 11 pmi, a crime not to have a pass
boak and a crime 1o have the wrong
signature in thar beok, a crime o be
uneniployed and a crime to be emploved
in the wrong place, a erime to live in
certain places and a crime io have no
place to five. Every day we heard and saw
the thousands of humiliations that or-
dinary Africans confronied every day of
thelr fives.

Oliver had a prodigious capacity for
work, He spent a great deal of time with
each client, not se much for professional
reasons but because he was a man of
liyiitless compassion and patience. He
becane involved in his clients’ cases and
in their lives. He was touched by the
plight of the masses as a whole and by
each and every individual.

I realized quickly what Mandela and
Tambo meant to ordinary Africans. It
was a place where they could come and
find a sympathetic ear and g competent
atly. a place where they would not be
turited away or cheated, a place where
they might actually feel proud lo be
represemted by men of their own skin
colour. Thiswas the reason I had becorte

ated by juelgement m the case Faop v Union Government (Minister of the Trterion)
1913 CPD 133 an whiich the comn found that 4 women mawied w a Indian immigrant in wrms of
“Mohasmedain rites”” coukd i e reganded as his lawful “wife” for paeposes af the tmmigration Act
30 of 196 as the manijage was potentially polygamons, The Indian woman i guestion could
accordingly be deported 1 Iieha. Gandhi intespreted the judgement o imply that all maniages not
conchiuded intenns of Chiistian rites were null and void, Thousamds ol Indian wives were suddenly
nes. I protest, many indian women rned the Geeat March. Barlier the court in the

1 wile™ G the puiposes of immigration included one wife from a Mohammedan
marriage, utespective of low many wives thege noght be, See Baalin v Registrar of Asiaties 1911 TP

21 1 Jack {edd The Goamdhi Reader (19560 al 67
22 The march was prec

reduced o coney

Transvaal held

180 and B v Fattna 1912 TPD 39,
26

23 An extensive exploration of the Gandlian 1oofs of the Delance Campaign (alls puistde the scope of this
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es553y. Sonwe have claimed that non-violence was manstormed from a quasi-religious creed {(as it was fon
Gandhiy la & tactic {as it was for the leaders of the Defiance Campaign) Nevertheless, in a paper o0 the
D.n:u:nn Campaign one of the leaders of the Indian commumiy. MP Naicker winte, In the detaled
discussions thar were held by he national Planning Council and the leadership of the ANEC and the §a
indhan Congress prior to the formulation of the plan of action. the eMcacy of (he Gandhian rthtlosophy
of satvagraha tie changing the hearts of die rulers by passtvely saffering imprisamment} i the face aof an
avowedly fasaist regime was discussed at lengih. Undoubtedly there was a very small nuinority who
supported the Gandinan creed absolutely, But the vast majarity agreed that the campaign itsell could no
defeal white supremacy” {quoted in Reddy (n #) at 66).

2.23: Mandela’s auabiography s entitled Losng Walk to Freedon {1994). A comprehensive collection of
his speeches has appeared as Nelson Mandela: The Struggle 15 My Life {1990), Biographies inclode F Meer
H_wwﬂw than Hope: the biography of Nelson Mandela {1990); M Meredith Nelson Mandela: A Biography
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a fawyer in the first place. and nv work
ofien made me feel | had made the right
decision.”

Al the same time as Mandela was
establishing his legal practice in Johan-
nesburg, the ANC and a munber ol other
organisations (including the I[ndian
Congress originally founded by Gandhi}
organised an exfensive campaign of
civil disobedience which came to be
known as the Defiance Camtpaign. In
1952 Mandcla was appoeinted in charge
of all the volunteers who joined the
campaign. "My life, during the Defi-
ance Campaign, rap on two separate
tracks: my work in the struggle, and my
livelihood as an attorney’” recalled
Mandela later.”® In a great surge of
protest, men and wonten all over the
couniry courled -imprisonment. In dis-
ciplined groups they went Lthrotugh Eut-
opeans Only cntrances 1o railway
stations and post offices; African people
broke the curfew laws; and a number of
white people joined Tndian Satvagrahis
in illegally entering Black 1ownships. In
all, & 500 went to jail until governmenm
legislation finalty halted the campaign.
Nelson Mandela was one of twenty
leaders who were charged and convicted
at the end of 1952 for organising the
Deflance Campaign. He received a nine
months suspended sentence. Tn addi-
tion, the government responded by
issiting hint with a banning order which
prohibited him from attending gather-
ings and confined him to Johannesburg.

In 1954 the Transvaal Law Society
applied to the Supreme Courl to have
Mandela struck of 1he roll of attorneys
for his role in 1he Deliance Campaign of

25 Mandela Lorg walk o Freedam (n 23 a0 172-1713
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1952.%7 The Society claimed that respect
for the law was required from an
attorney and thae his participation in a
campaign of deliberate civil disobe-
dience made Mandela an unfit person
to practise law as an attorney. Mandela
argued that the application was an
affront to the idea of justice and that
he had a right 10 fight for his political
beliefs, even though they were opposed
to that of the government. The court
agreed and dismissed the application,”®

Other leaders were simultaneously
banned. Tn spite of these measures, a
Congress of the People was established
which eventually incorporated the ANC,
the SA Indian Congress, the Coloured
People’s Congress, the {(white) Congress
of Democrats and the SA Congress ol
Trade Unions. At a mass meeting of
more than three thousand people, the
Congress movement adopted its own
policy document on 26 June 1955 at
Kliptown. The document was called the
“Freedom Charter’. The government
reacted against the growing militancy
and unity of the people and arrested 156
leaders, including Nelson Mandela, in
December 1956, All those arrested were
charged with treason. The defence team
of the accused included a prominent
Afrikaner lawyer — Bram Fischer.

Bram Fischer®® was born on 23 April
1908 in Bloemfontein. He grew up in a
prominent Afrikaner family and soon
developed Afrikaner naticnalist sent-
ments. In 1929 he became the student
leader of the National Party. In the same
year his father became a judge in the
Suprente Courl of the Qrange Free State.
He received a Rhodes Scholarship to
study at Oxford University in 1930. By

27 tacorporated Lany Socier, Transeaal v Mandela 1954 (3) SA 102 (TPD).
28 Ramsboron J held that the conduct m question was ot comnmitied by Mandela in s professional

capacity

at he had already been punished for his conduct and that his condoct in any case did not

disclose a charauer which wondd make Mandela insvorihy of the honourable profession of atrorney.
1085 Chingman Mram Fusfer Afrokavier Revelntiomary (1998)
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the time he returned to Sonth Africa in
1934, he had become interested in
communism, In January 1935 Bram
Fischer joined (the Johannesburg Bar
and quickly established himsell as a
successful advocate. At the same time
he remained polildcally active, and
joined the Communist Party of South
Africa. In December 1945 Bram Fischer
was clected to the central conunittee of
the CPSA. At the same time, legal work
streamed in. Fischer started experienc-
ing difficulties in combining his practice
and his anti-apartheid political activ-
ities. Predictably, he became a target of
the Naiional Party government. In {950
the Suppression of Communism Act
provided for the liquidation of the
Communist Party. Fischer was listed in
1951 as a communist and received the
first of many banning orders on 20
August 1953,

Lawyers like Nelson Mandela and
Bram Fischer practised law at a lime
when the resistence campaigns of the
1950°s lead 1o a direct confrontation
between the defenders and the challeng-
ers of the apartheid regime. The sile of
the struggle became the courts of the
land. Thousands of people were arrested
for deliberately and conscientiously, but
peacefully, breaking apartheid taws. The
legal community inevitably became em-
broiled in the political struggle. The
apartheid government decided to con-
veniently use the courts to try and crush
the liberation movement. Hundreds of
legally skilled prosectitors, magistrates
and judges obliged by trving and sen-
tencing political objectors 1o various
lertms of imprisonment. The najority

of lawyers, inadvertently or not, sanc-
tioned the abuse of the couns by con-
tinuing with their legal practices as if
the crisis did not exist The support that
their silence or inaction lent to the
apartheid regime cannot be dis-
coumted.>?

Lawyers umder apattheid arrogant indifference and
e steuggle fin justce

In this context lawyers like Nelson
Mandela and Bram Fischer stand out.
They understood it as their professional
duty Lo actively oppose the aparlheid
laws and the abuse of the legal process
in a purely political struggle. They
refused to be the “rubber stamps of an
immoral regime’” as Nelson Mandela
referred to many other members of the
legal profession *! Active opposition in
this regard meant, in the f{irst place,
using rtheir knowledge, skills and influ.
ence as lawyers to assist in the organi-

30 The Truth and Reconcthanon Conumission Trk and Reconciliatron Commisitor Report 4t 53 par 33 puts it
much sttonger, ’IThhe comits and the orgamsed legal polession generaily and subconsciously o
unwatnngly conmved in the legislative and execuuye purswat ol nyusuce, as was potnted out by a few at
the time and acknowledged by so many at the heanng, Perhaps the most common form ol subservience
can be captuted 11 the maxm gin tacet consentire {silence gives consentd. There were, nevertheless, many
parts of the profession that actively contnbuted to the enrrenchment and delence of apartheid trough

the courts **
31 Mandela in 24) at 190
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sation of the political resistance. This
meant for Mandela and Fischer (as fom
Gandhi before them) that their legal
practices became but one part of their
politically active lives.

Legal work, in the second place,
frequently took 1he Torm of defending
friends and strangers who had been
arrested and dragged before court for
acts of civil disobedience based on their
pelitical convictions. Thus Bram Fischer
ended up in 1958 as part of the defence
team [or Nelson Mandela anul his fellow
accused.

The Treason Trial dragged on for more
than four ycars. Finally, in 1961 all the
accused were acquitted as the state could
not prove its theory that the ANC and its
atlies were pan of a communist inspired
effort to overthrow the govermment with
vialence.

As the trial drew to a close, the
shooting incident at Sharpeville 100k
place.?? A state of emergency was called
and a new round ol anests was insil-
gated. Mandela was forced to go under-
ground in order to escape arrest. This
meant the end of his legal practice.
Mandcla managed to continue with his
political activities and organised a three
day strike to coincide with the establish-
ment of South Africa as a republic on 31
May 1961, Six months later, in Decem-
ber 1961, sabotage marked the emer-
gence ol HUmkhonto we SiZwe as
govermment installations were attacked,
This ended the period of peaceful
resistence and introduced the armed
struggle, Mandcla’s life underground
ended on 5 August 1962 when he was
captured in Maral. He was charged with
inciting Africans o sirike and leaving
the countiy without a passport {he
travelled through Africa, amongst
others (0 Addis Abeba in Ethiopia).
Appreciating the difficult position that

12 2} Mawch 1940
13 Mandela (n 24) a1 148-154,
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the apartheid legal order placed him as
lawyer, Nelson Mandela took time to
explain his position m an address to the
court, I quote his important words at
fength:*’

This court has found that I am guilty of
acitement to commil an offence in
opposition to this lawv as well as of leaving
the couniry.

The court is aware of the fact that I am
it attorney by profession and ne doubt
the question will be asked why I, as an
attorney who is bound, as part of mv code
of behaviour, to observe the laws of the
country and 1o respect Jts customs and
traditions. should willingly lend myself to
a campaign whose ultimate aim was to
bring abou! a strike against the pro-
claimed policy of the governnrent of this
cOMITY,

Right at the beginning of my career as
an attorney 1 encountered  difficulties
imposed on me becatse of the colowr of
my skin, and further difficulty surronnd-
ing me because of wy membership and
support of the African National Congress.
I discovered, for example, that, unlike a
white attorney, 1 could not occupy busi-
ness premises in the city unless T first
obtained ministerial consent in terms of
the Urban Areas Act. 1 applied for that
cossent, bui it was never granted.
Although 1 subsequently obtained a
persiit, for a timited period, in terms of
the growp Areas Act. that soon expirved,
and the awthorities refused to renew if.
They insisted that my partier, Ofiver
Tautbo, and | should leave the city and
practise in an African location at the back
of bevond, miles away fron where clients
could reach us durinng working hours.
This was tantamount fo asking us o
abandon onr fegal practice, fo give up the
legal service of our people, for which we
had spernt many years frafning. No

atforney worth fis salt will agree easily to
do so. For some wears, therefore, we
continired fo occnpy premises ur the city,
Heqallv. The threat of prosecutivnr and
efection hung menacingly over wus

throughout that period. It was an act of

defiance of Hie lew. Wewvere aware that it
vas, but, nevertheless, that act had been
Jorced on us against ouy wishes, and we
coultd do no ether than to choose between
complicnee with the taw and compliance
with our conscienee,

in the courts where we practised we
wer freated courteausty by many officials
bt we were very often discriminated
against by some and treated with resent-
ment and hostitity by others. We were
corstanily aware that no matter how
well. how correctly, how adegquately we
pursued our career of law, we could net
become a prosecutor, or a magistrate, or a
Judge. We became aware of the facr that
as atforneys we ofterr dealt with officials
whose competence and altainments were
nao higher than onrs, but whose stperior
position was maimained and protected by
a whife skin,

! regarded ir av a duty which 1 owed,
mot just to my people, but also to my
profession, to the practice of law and 1o
Justice for all mankind, to cry out against
this discrimtination, which is essentially
unjust and opposed to the whole basis of
the attitude towards justice which is par
of the tradition of legal training in this
courtiry. [ believed that in taking up a
stand aganst this injustice T was uphald-
g the dignity of what should be an
honourablc profession.

Nine years age the Tramsvaal Law
Seciety applied to the Supremte Court 1o
have my name siruck off the rofl because
of the part 1 had played in a campaign
mitiated by the African National Con-
gress, a campatgn for the Defiance of
Unjust Laws. During the campaign more
than eight thousand of the most ad-
vanced and farseeing of my people
deliberately courted arrest and imprison-

ment v breaking specified Iaws, wihich
we reqarded then, as we still do now, as
unjust and repressive. In the opinion of
the Law Society, my activity In connection
with that campaign did not conform ie
the standards of conduct expected from
micmbers of onr honenrable profession,
but on this occasion the Supreme Court
held that T Irad beeri within my righis a
an atforngy, that there was nothing
dishononrable in an attorney identifving
himself with his people in their struggle
for political rights, cvenr if his activities
should finfringe upon the laws of the
coury; the Supreme Court rejected the
application of the Law Saciety,

It wonld not be expected that with such
a verdict in my favour | should discon-
tintte my political activities. But Your
Worship may well wonder why it is that !
should find it necessary to persist with
stech conduct, which has not only brought
we the difficulties I have referred fo, but
which has resitlted in my spending some
four years oi a charge before the courts of
high treason, of witich [ was subsequently
acquitted, and of many months in jail on
no charge at all, merely on the basts of
the goverimment’s distike of my views and
of my activities during the whole period of
the Emergency of 1960

Your Worship, T wonld say that the
whole life of any thinking African in this
country  drives him comtinvously te a
conflict between his conscience on the
one hand and the law on the other. This
fs ot a conflict peculiar to this country,
The conflict arises for nen of conscieice,
Jor men whe think and wio feel deeply in
every country. Recenily in Britain, a peer
of the realm, Earl Russell, probably the
most respected philosopher of the Western
world, was sentericed, convicted for pre-
cisely the type of activities for which I
stand before you today, for followtng his
conscienice i defiance of the law. as a
protest against a nuclear weapons policy
being follawed by his own government.
For him, his duty to the public, his belief
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in the morality of the essential righiness
of the cause for which he stood, rose
superior (2 the high respect for the law,
He conld not do other thai to oppose the
lav and to suffer the consequences for it
Norcan 1. Nor car many Afvicans fn tlis
corsrery, The law as it is applied, the law
as it 15 written and designed by the
Nationalist gevernment, is a faw which,
in owr viaw, is immoral, st and
imtolerable. Our consciences dictate that
we Hiust protest against i, that we wist
oppose i, and that we must attempt o
alter if.

Here we, the African people. and
especially we of the National Action
Council, who had been entrusted with
the iremendous responsibility of safe-
audrding the interests of the African
people, were faced with this conflict
hetween the law and our conscience. In
the face of the complete faiture of the
governiment te hreed, to consider, or ever
to respond to our serivusly proposed
objections and our solutions to the forth-
coming republic, what were we to do?

This is the difemmma which faced s,
and in such a dilenima, men of honesiy,
men of purpose, and men of public
morality and of conscience can only have
orte answer. They pust follow the dictates
of their conscience frrespective of the
consequences which might overtake them
Jor it. We of the Action Councll, and !
particularly as Secrstary, followed my
CONSCIENCe.

Mandela was senienced to six years
imprisonment.

I July the following year {1963} the
police raided the Lilliesleal farm in
Rivonia and arrested a number of under-
ground leaders and confiscated impor-
tant documents deating with the armed
struggle. The Rivenia Trial opened in
Pretoria on 9 Oclober 1963, Nelson

Mandela was brought from prison and
charged with the other leadeis as ac-
cused number one. Bram Fischer ted the
tearn for the de{ence. All but one ol the
accused were found guilty of sabotage,
and sentenced to life imprisonment.
Nelson Mandela was released in 1990,
nearly 27 years later and in [994
became the first democratically elected
president of South Africa.

After the Rivonia Trial, the police
concentrated their attention on Bram
Fischer. He was arrested on 23 Septem-
ber 1964 and charged under the Sup-
pression of Commiunism Act together
with ten other leaders. This time Bram
Fischer was accused number one. He
was held in the Old Fort Prison in
Johannesburg. Bram applied for bail as
he had a case scheduled in London
before the Privy Council. Bail was
granted. The case in London was 1o be
Fischer's last as a lawyer. He relunmed to
stand his trial boat later found that
circumstances had changed. Fischer felt
that it was no longer possible to com-
bine the role of a lawyer and political
activist. On 24 January 1965 he did not
arrive at court. A letter was read on his
behall, In it he explained that he wished
to continue the political work which he
believed was essential: I ean no longer
serve Justice in the way I have altempted (o do
during the past thirty years. I can ondy do it
in the way I have now chosen” !

Two days later the Johannesburg Bar
Council decided 1o institute proceedings
in the Supreme Court to have him
removed from the roll of advocates on
the grounds thae Bram Fischer's “‘recent
conduct is unbefitting that of an advo-
cate”’. Again Bram defended his actions
in a letier: “"When an advocate does what |
have done, his conduct is not deterntined by
any disrespect for the law nor because he
hopes personally to benefit by any “offence” he

3¢ Fhe leiter 15 gquoted 1 Socwty of Advorates of Soneh Africa (Winwatersrand Divisien) v Fischer 1966 (1) 54 133

{TPD} a1 137C
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may comntit. O the contrary, it requires an
act of will to overcome his deeply rooted
respect of legality, and he takes the step only
wihtent he feels that, whatever the consequetices
to himself, his polirical conscience no longer
permits him o do othenvise. He does It ot
becanse of a desire to be immioral, but
hecause to acl otherwise wouldd, for fiim, be
inmoral.' ¥

On 2 November 1965 Bram Fischer
was struck from the roll of advocates in
his absence.>® Fischer’s life as an under-
ground activist ended shortly thereafter
when he was arrested on 11 November
1965. This time he was charged with
sabotage —~ the same charge faced by the
Rivonia trialisi which he defended
merely a year before. He pleaded not
guilty to the charges. Alter the state’s
case was presented, Bram Fischer
decided not to testify but to make a
statement from the dock. Like Mandela,
he took pains to explain why he as
lawyer felt compelled 1o disobey the law
which it would otherwise his duty as a
lawyer to defend:

I am on trial, my Lord, for wmy political
beliefs and for the conduct which those
beliefs drove me to. My Lord, whatever
labels may have been attached to the
fifteen charges brought against me, they
all arise from my having been a wember
of the Communist Party and from ny
activities as a member. | engaged wupon
those activities because I believed that, in
the dangerous civcimstances which have

been created in Seuth Africa, it was my
duty to do so.

My Lord, witen a man is on trial for
his political beliefs and actions, two
courses are open to him. He can either
corfess to hus transgressions and plead for
mercy, or ke can justify his beliefs and
explain why he has acted as he did. Were
I to ask for forgiveness today. 1 would
betray my cawuse, That course, vy Lord, is
not open to me. I believe that what T did
was right, and I must therefore explain to
vour Lordship whar my motives were; why
I hold the beliefs that I do, and wity I was
competled to act in accordance with them.

My belief. moreover, my Lord, is one
reason why ! have pleaded rot guilly to
all the charges brought against me.
Though I shall deny a number of
important allegations, this Court is aware
of the fact that there is much in the State
case which has ner been contested.

My Lord, there is another reason, and
a wore compelling reason for my plea
and wity even now I persist in it. I accept,
my Lord, the general rule that for the
profectionn of a society laws should be
obeyed. But when the laws themselves
become tmmoral, and regudre the citizen
fo iake parl in an organised system of
eppression ~ if only by his silence and
apatliy — then I believe that a higher duty
arises. This compels one to refuse to
recogrise suclt laws,

The taw. nmy Lord, under which I have
been prosecuted, was enacted by @ wholly
unrepresentative body, a body in which
three-guarters of the people of this country

35 Soawry of Advocaies of Sonth Africa (Witwatersrand Doagion} v Fischer (0 333 2 1)SH

36 Socrety of Advocates of 54 (Winvatersrand Division) v Fischer (n 33) The court held thar Fischer liad made use
of his statirs as a senior counsel to obtane bail and s breach of his solemn undertaking o stand his wanl
was dishonest and dishonourable conduct (136H) Furthermove, Fischer made it clear thai tus political
beltels were such thal he was not prepared to conform to the laws of lis country The comt held that it s
the duty of an advocale and atromey to further the administration of justice 1 accordance with the laws
of the country and nol to flustrate 1t {137F) 11 would be inconsistent with that duty o allow an advocate
for attenney) to remain on the 10l! when he or she 1s openly defying those laws 11370} For this reason,
the court concluded. Nelson Mandela ought also o liave been struck from the role when the applcation
(o that effect served before the court 1n 1954 (137F=Gi In the Trith and Reconciliation Commuistont Report
Volume 4 par 34 3 1his maident 15 highhghted as one example of the way it which the legal profession

comuved 1 the pusing of wpustice
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have no voice whatever, Thiy and other
laws were enacted nat to prevent the
spread of Commuorisme, but, my Lord, for
the purpose of silencing tie opposition of
the large majority of our citizens to a
governmeant imtent wpon depriving them,
selely on acconnt of their colour. of the
most elementary hunan rights: of the
right fo freedom and happiness, the right
to five together with their families wher-
ever they might choose, to earn their
livelthoods to the best of thetr abilities,
and 1o vear and educate their children in
a civilised fashion; to take part in the
admiristration of their couniry and fo
obtain a fair share of the wealth they
produce; in short, my Lord, to hve as
hunian beings.

My conscience, my Lord, does not
permit pic to afford these laws sich
recognition as even a plea of guifty wonld
invelve, Hence though [ shall be convicted
by this Court, I cannot plead guilty. 1
believe that the _‘.H_:z:, may well say that |
dacied correctly.’”

Bram Fischer was sentenced to life
imprisonment. He died on 8 May 1975
ol cancer, still a prisoner.

3 Conclusion

After South Africa"s transition to de-
mocracy in 1994, a Truth and Reconcilia-
tion Commission was created to establish
as complete a piciure as possible of the
injustices of the past, and the faciors
that contributed 1o those injustices, The

Commission found that the legal com-
munity stood to blame for the role it
played during the years of apartheid,
The legal community, ecither through
aclive support or silent inaction, lent a
measnre of legitimacy to the apartheid
regime. What lawyers should have
done, the Connmission held, was to strip
ihie Emperor ol his clothes and te expose
the naked power and vieolence upon
which the apartheid regime was
founded.?

Mahatma Gandhi, Nelson Mandela
and Bram Fischer each in their own
way tried 10 oppose racism in South
Africa. In doing so, all three men, at one
point or another, had to turn against the
law to which they had sworm allegiance
when they entered the legal profession.
All three claimed, in doing so, that their
duty as lawyers was to serve justice, not
the existing law. All three practised law,
not for the money, staius, power or any
other instrumental reason, but as an
inregral part of an active political life
directed towards the public good. Man-
dela and Fischer, cither as accused or as
defence council, played a major rele in
most of the important political trials of
the late 1950s and early 1960s. In this
they were inspirational to a younger
generation of lawyers who joined in the
work, including George Bizos, Sidney
Kentridge {founder of the Legal Resources
Center and later acting Constitutional
Courl judgey and Arthur Chaskalson
twho became the first President of the

37 Quened i Clingman (3 28) a1 409410 Both Bram Fischer and Nelson Maindela {as did Gandlu befoae
theny) appealed to then consciences as reserviar ot Jusasce n a suuation where the law had become
ungust [1s an open question whether an ndividual’s owm subjectve consaence provides sellicient
ground (o1 the systematc violanon of (he law For an interesting exploranon of this quesnon in the case
ol annther esteemed profession see R Atkinson “How the Butler was made to do it the perverted
mofessiomalism of The Remans of the Day’” 1995 (105) Yale Law Jowrnal 177-220 Hannah Arendt,
German Amencan pelmcal plulosophier, has also appealed 1o (he conscience of individual persons as
the only moral hope doring e begghe of 20th centoy cealgarianism i Nagn Germany (The Hife of e
Mind Vol | =Thokimg (19783 She has been crincised by fellow Germans bke Altvecht Wellmer for
placimg her hape on such an unhrm subjective groamd mstead of on the mherent rationaliey of inter-
sulyective democratie dalogue and debate {“Hannah Arendl on judgement The uowieinten docurine of
reason™ i L May Hiamrah Arendt hventy years later (19961),

38 Feeth and Reconciliation Reporr Volukre & (1988) par 38
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Constitutional Court). Through their
skill, these liberation lawyers managed
to turn the already politicised courts into
sites of resistance. These trials became
highty publicised affairs, and provided
an international forum for leaders, who
were otherwise banned and silenced, 10
publicly voice their objections te the
apartheid order. Quiside the legal fo-
rum, these lawyers dedicated their lives
to politics and played key roles in the
planning of the struggle.

At his final court appearance, Bram
Fischer claimed that history will show
that he (and others like him, such as
Gandhi and Mandela) had acted cor-
rectly, It is now more than 35 vears
later. It is time for you to judge the roles
that Gandhi, Mandela, Fischer and their
judges, prosecutors and colleagues had
played during the first half of the 20th
century in the development of the South
African legal order. That judgement
won't have any direct bearing on the

academic and judicial refinement and
development of the substanuve rules of
the Roman-Dutch legal tradition during
the same period. It will, however, direct
attention (o another rradition which
contributed to the present South African
legal order. It is the (largely neglected)
tradition of struggle law, as developed
by liberation lawyers such as Gandhi,
Mandela and Fischer. The decision to
construct the new Constitutional Court-
building on the reconstructed site of the
Old Fort Prison in down-town Johan-
nesburg, where all three men were
detained at different times, embraces
this tradition as a permanent and inte-
gral part of the democratic legal order of
South Africa. This brave move reminds
us of the urgency to assess the meaning
of that tradition, to establish its
strengths and weaknesses and o reflect
on ways in which it should inform the
practice of law in post-apartheid South
Africa.
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